RECEIVED

Jun 06 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Florence County

Honorable George M. McFaddin, Circuit Court Judge

---

MYRON A. CANNON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000180

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JORDAN WAYBURN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's incomplete supplemental instruction that there may be permissive inferences of an intent to distribute based on weight and packaging?
  
- II. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the unnecessary and unconstitutional jury instruction that possession of more than one gram of cocaine raises the inference of an intent to distribute?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by the Florence County grand jury on March 10, 2016 on the following charges: trafficking in cocaine base, possession with intent to distribute cocaine, failure to stop for a blue light, and resisting arrest. App. 139-141. He went to trial before Judge William Seals and a jury. App. 1. He was represented by Grant Smaldone, and John Jepertinger prosecuted the case. App. 1.

The state presented testimony from Wayne Drummond that he saw Petitioner speeding down Pamplico Highway at ninety miles per hour. App. 41:2-42:19. Petitioner's vehicle was a rental from Enterprise. App. 49:5-13. When Drummond turned on his blue lights, Petitioner sped away. App. 42:20-43:16. Drummond eventually rammed his car, Petitioner's vehicle went "into the bean field," and then Petitioner hopped out of the driver's side of the car and began running across the field. App. 45:11-22. Drummond eventually caught him. App. 47:2-22. Petitioner had been alone in the car. App. 46:13:16. Other law enforcement officers found two bags of what turned out to be cocaine and crack in the driver's area of the car. App. 59:15-20, 64:19-65:1, 80:19-81:15. Drummond testified, "[Petitioner] was the driver so he was responsible for the vehicle and anything in the vehicle." App. 51:18-19.

Generally speaking, as trial counsel later testified at the PCR hearing, Petitioner's defense at trial was "the flying drugs defense." App. 208:10-22. He argued law enforcement officers "did nothing in the case to show that [the drugs were] his," that there was "nothing that ties the drugs to Myron." App. 112:3-4, 116:1. He closed his argument to the jury: "We found drugs strewn about in a car after a car accident. Who knows where they came from?" App. 116:6-7.

On possession with intent to distribute, the trial court instructed the jury:

[T]he State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant possessed cocaine with the intent to distribute it. To

prove possession, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant had both the power and the intent to control the disposition or use of the cocaine.

...

Mere presence at the scene where the drugs were found is not enough to prove possession. The Defendant's knowledge and possession may be inferred when a substance is found on the property under the Defendant's control.

However, this inference is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with the other evidence in the case and be given the weigh you decide it should have.

...

Intent may be shown by acts and conduct of the Defendant and other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent.

In determining whether the Defendant had the intent to distribute the cocaine, you may consider the circumstances surrounding the Defendant's alleged possession. You may consider the amount of the substance alleged to have been possessed, the manner in which it was allegedly possessed, the place where it was allegedly possessed, and other factors which you consider to be important.

You must find that a Defendant did not intend to have cocaine solely for his own use. Possession of more than one gram of cocaine creates an inference that the Defendant possessed the cocaine with intent to distribute it.

This inference does not relieve the State from proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant had the intent to distribute.

It is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with the other evidence in the case and be given the weight you decide it should have.

App. 122:24-124:17. Trial counsel did not object to the jury charges. App. 96:2-9, 129:22-130:1. In its closing argument, the state expressly used the "permissive inference" to prove its case. App. 106:4-7.

During its deliberations the jury sent the trial court a note. App. 130:10-16, 138. It asked: "Is intent to distribute based on quantity or the way it is packaged?" and, "Or any other factors?" App. 138. The trial court gave a written answer:

There may be a permissive inference of intent to distribute if the cocaine weighs over 1 gram. Also, the jury may draw a permissive inference of intent to distribute also based on packaging and other factors.

App. 138; 130:12-20. Trial counsel did not object to the answer. App. 130:21-24. Including the time the jury took to ask its question and for the court to answer, the jury deliberated for fifty minutes. App. 130:7-131:2. The jury convicted Petitioner on all charges, and the trial court issued twenty-five-year concurrent sentences on the drug charges, a five-year sentence for the failure to stop, and a one-year sentence for resisting arrest. App. 131:12-132:7, 135:16-24.

Petitioner was represented on appeal by Elizabeth Franklin-Best. App. 224. The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in an unpublished opinion. *State v. Cannon*, Op. No. 2019-UP-397 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 18, 2019).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on December 17, 2020. App. 146-51. He alleged, among other things, that trial counsel was ineffective for "failing to object to an instruction to the jury regarding possession of cocaine with intent to distribute." App. 154. This allegation concerned both the initial jury instruction and the response to the jury's question during its deliberations. App. 154-56. In the initial application, Petitioner specifically alleged trial counsel should have "requested[ed] the court to reinstruct that the state has the burden of proving all elements beyond a reasonable doubt and that the burden of proof is always on the state." App. 156. The state filed its return on April 5, 2021. App. 162. Petitioner filed an amended application through counsel Ola Johnson on October 11, 2022. App. 174. Judge

George McFaddin held an evidentiary hearing on December 15, 2022. App. 178. Russ Barlow represented the state. App. 178.

At the hearing Petitioner testified trial counsel should have objected to the inference based on weight and to recharge the jury in response to its question. App. 187:15-189:23. Trial counsel testified he did not object to the inference on weight instruction because he did not think that was necessary. App. 210:10-14. He continued, however, and stated that now he "absolutely would object to that because that is a garbage statute." App. 210:14-16. Trial counsel thought "even today that's the law." App. 210:19-21. Trial counsel gave no reason for failing to object to the supplemental instruction.

Ultimately the PCR court entered an order dismissing the application on January 5, 2025. App. 223. It ruled trial counsel was not deficient "where when considered as a whole, the jury charge was a correct statement of the law," and that "any objection by Trial Counsel would not have been meritorious." App. 238.

This petition follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The Sixth Amendment guarantees every criminal defendant the reasonably effective assistance of counsel." *Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 379, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) (citations omitted). A PCR applicant proves ineffectiveness in two prongs: "(1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different." *Williams v. State*, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *Sellers v. State*, 362 S.C. 182, 188, 607 S.E.2d 82, 85 (2005)).

Whether a given set of facts meets a constitutional standard is a question of law this Court reviews without deference to the PCR court. *See Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81 & n.2, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 & n.2 (2018); *State v. Samuel*, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (stating appellate courts review with deference findings of fact but de novo whether those facts legally constitute waiver of right to counsel). Therefore, accepting the PCR court's factual findings, whether counsel's conduct and stated strategy were deficient is reviewed de novo. For the same reasons, whether Petitioner was prejudiced by the conduct is reviewed without deference to the PCR court's ultimate conclusion.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court's supplemental instruction was incomplete and unconstitutionally commented on the facts, and counsel was ineffective by failing to object.**

During its deliberations the jury asked: "Is intent to distribute based on quantity or the way it is packaged? Or some other factors?" The trial court then erred by: (1) providing an incomplete instruction on intent, (2) instructing a nonexistent permissive inference that is a direct comment on the facts, and (3) failing to resolve the jury's confusion. Any reasonable counsel would have recognized the severe errors with the instruction, and trial counsel could have successfully objected on any one of those grounds yet failed to do so. That failure constitutes deficient performance, and when considered in context of a jury question, it clearly prejudiced Petitioner.

#### *a. Deficiency*

##### *i. The response was grossly incomplete.*

The trial court's response to the jury was insufficient and required objection because it failed to make clear and repeat to the jury that the "permissive inference" need not be accepted, that Petitioner did not need to rebut or disprove the inference, and that the state bore the ultimate burden of proving Petitioner's intent beyond a reasonable doubt. This failure was egregious. Any reasonable counsel paying attention should have immediately objected to this incomplete charge because as given, the only likely outcome was for the jury to do exactly what it was told: infer Petitioner intended to distribute the drugs.

Supplemental instructions are particularly important in guiding the jury to correctly analyze the questions presented to it. *State v. Blassingame*, 271 S.C. 44, 46, 244 S.E.2d 528, 530 (1978) (explaining that when the jury asks a question, "[i]t is reasonable to assume that the jury had, at this point, focused critical attention" on the issue about which it asked). "As is the case with instructions originally given, additional instructions should not ignore or exclude from the

consideration of the jury material issues covered by the instructions originally given . . . ." 64 Corpus Juris, *Trial* § 838, p. 1041 (1933) (footnotes omitted). For the trial court to reply to a jury's question that goes right to the heart of the case with such brevity and little detail is entirely insufficient. The jury needed to be re-instructed that the inferences could be rejected and the state still needed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Petitioner intended to distribute the drugs regardless of its quantity or packaging.<sup>1</sup> Those were "material issues covered by the instructions originally given . . . ." *Id.*

Counsel renders deficient performance by failing to object to supplemental instructions that do not fully address the jury's question because they are incomplete. *McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 48, 661 S.E.2d 354, 361-62 (2008); see *Bollenbach v. United States*, 326 U.S. 607, 612-13 (1946) ("When a jury makes explicit its difficulties a trial judge should clear them away with concrete accuracy."). In *McKnight* the trial court initially instructed the jury in a homicide by child abuse case the state must prove the "death occurred in circumstances showing extreme indifference to human life." 378 S.C. at 47, 661 S.E.2d at 361. It also provided the general criminal intent charge, including that such intent can arise "from negligence, recklessness or indifference to duty or consequences therefore." *Id.* During deliberations the jury asked the court, "Can we have a definition of criminal intent? If we do have to confirm criminal intent?" *Id.* The trial court recharged the jury with the general intent charge, and trial counsel did not object. *Id.* The Court held counsel was ineffective because while the general intent charge was an accurate statement of the law for homicide by child abuse, "the trial court's recitation of the general criminal intent charge alone in response to the jury's inquiry only served to further confuse the jury by referencing mere negligence and otherwise failing to clarify the particular

---

<sup>1</sup> Below, Petitioner challenges the propriety of giving this charge at all. For purposes of this issue though, whether the trial court gave an adequate supplemental instruction can assume the permissive inference charge may be permissible. Of course, if the charge was improper in the first instance, trial counsel was required to object to it in the supplemental instruction as well.

mental state required for a conviction of homicide by child abuse." 378 S.C. at 48, 661 S.E.2d at 361.

The result in this case should be even more clear than *McKnight*. The re-charged instruction in *McKnight* was still a thorough explanation of criminal intent and recited the state's burden of proof. Here, not only was this an incomplete definition of the intent necessary to find Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, it did not recite that the State bears the burden of demonstrating proof to such a level nor did it make certain the jury understood the permissive inferences could be rejected. As given, the supplemental charge was woefully incomplete, and trial counsel needed to object and request a complete instruction, something that would not have been difficult to provide. There is no plausible legitimate strategic reason for trial counsel to fail to request and obtain a complete instruction, and trial counsel did not articulate any reason for this failure at the PCR hearing. *See Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (citations omitted) ("Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness.").

*ii. There is no "permissive inference of intent . . . based on packaging," and the bcharge was an unconstitutional comment on the facts.*

Under no circumstances should a court ever instruct the jury it "may draw a permissive inference of intent to distribute . . . based on packaging . . . ." App. 138; 130:12-20. First, this instruction is not a correct statement of the law. There is no such "permissive inference" arising from packaging. As addressed further below, the only permissive inference arises from the weight of the drugs, and that is provided and defined by statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(d)(5); *Brightman v. State*, 336 S.C. 348, 351, 520 S.E.2d 614, 615 (1999). In *State v. Elmore*, 368 S.C. 230, 628 S.E.2d 271 (Ct. App. 2006), the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of a directed verdict because evidence the defendant had several small bags of marijuana was "reasonably susceptible of two inferences"—that he intended to sell the bags of marijuana or had

purchased marijuana in the bags. 368 S.C. at 233, 237, 628 S.E.2d at 272, 274. There is no "permissive inference" that can be drawn from the packaging of drugs, and trial counsel needed to object to this incorrect statement of the law. *See* 16 Corpus Juris, *Criminal Law* § 2387, at 983 (1918) (explaining that in giving jury instructions, "it is error to state a presumption which does not exist in law").

Second, "The modern trend . . . has cast doubt upon the validity of charges instructing juries on how to interpret and use evidence." *Pantovich v. State*, 427 S.C. 555, 562, 832 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2019). Such charges are impermissible comments on the fact forbidden by the South Carolina Constitution. S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 ("Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law."). By telling the jury it "may draw a permissive inference of intent to distribute . . . based on packaging," App. 138; 130:12-20, the trial court "directly commented upon facts in evidence, elevated those facts, and emphasized them to the jury." *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 502, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019). Whether Petitioner intended to distribute the drugs or possess them merely for personal use was the "critical element of the charge," so this instruction inherently influenced the jury's deliberations and determination. *Id.*; *see State v. James*, 362 S.C. 557, 561-62, 608 S.E.2d 455, 457 (Ct. App. 2004) ("Possession of any amount of controlled substance coupled with sufficient indicia of intent to distribute will support a conviction for possession with intent to distribute." (citing *Matthews v. State*, 300 S.C. 238, 239, 387 S.E.2d 258, 259 (1990))).

In *Burdette* the Court was clear that the impropriety of these permissive inference charges—there, an inference of malice in a murder case—is not cured by the court informing the jury the evidence should receive "only the weight the jury determines it should be given." 427 S.C. at 502, 832 S.E.2d at 582. Such an additional instruction "does not remove the taint of the trial court's injection of its commentary upon that evidence." 427 S.C. at 502-03, 832 S.E.2d at 582. Here, however, there is not even such an ineffective attempt to ameliorate the harm. The

trial court told the jury there is this nonexistent permissive inference of intent, and that was the last thing it heard on the matter. That instruction was absolutely improper, and reasonable trial counsel would have objected to it.

*iii. The response did not inform the jury how it was to determine intent.*

A trial court must carefully evaluate any question from the jury in order to determine its intent in the context of the case so that proper instructions on the law are given. *See State v. Hewitt*, 205 S.C. 207, 31 S.E.2d 257, 259 (1944) ("The office and purpose of instructions are to enlighten the jury and to aid them in arriving at a correct verdict."); *Corpus Juris, supra, Trial* § 838 ("Care should be taken clearly to define the scope and object of additional instructions given to the jury after submission of the cause."). The trial court here failed to understand and respond to the question asked by the jury. The real heart of the jury's question was this: "How do we decide if the defendant intended to distribute the drugs?" Neither the quantity of drugs nor their packaging is an element of the offense. Intent to distribute was plainly the question with which the jury struggled, likely in part because of the original permissive inference instruction. The jury wanted further direction from the court how it was to determine Petitioner's intent. The trial court failed to provide this in an adequate way.

When properly framed, the correct response would have been to recharge the court's initial instruction on intent:

Intent may be shown by acts and conduct of the Defendant and other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent.

In determining whether the Defendant had the intent to distribute the cocaine, you may consider the circumstances surrounding the Defendant's alleged possession.

App. 123:23-124:3. *That* was the answer to the question the jury intended. *That* is how the jury was supposed to determine if Petitioner intended to distribute the drugs. The permissive inference instructions given did not genuinely answer the question with which the jury struggled.

Instead it told them to infer Petitioner's guilt based on weight and packaging, with no further explanation of all the proper bases for that determination.

b. Prejudice

"To satisfy the prejudice prong, an applicant must demonstrate 'there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different.'" *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018) (quoting *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007)). *But see Taylor v. State*, 312 S.C. 179, 183, 439 S.E.2d 820, 822 (1993) (applying "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt" standard to burden-shifting instruction in a drug possession with intent to distribute case on PCR).

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