**RECEIVED**

**Oct 24 2025**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas  
Appeal from Florence County  
Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge  
Honorable William H. Seals, Trial Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000180

---

MYRON A. CANNON, SCDC # 296787,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TALIDA BALAJ  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 106523

Post Office Box 11549

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. Petitioner's appellate argument that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the supplemental instruction as it was incomplete and unconstitutionally commented on the facts was not preserved for appellate review, where this issue was not raised in Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief and was not ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court in its order of dismissal. Notwithstanding any preservation concerns, plea counsel was not ineffective, where the supplemental instruction was a correct statement of the law and the trial court's response was properly limited to the jury's question**

On appeal, Petitioner raises for the first time the issue of whether trial counsel's representation was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's supplemental instruction on permissive inference. Specifically, Petitioner argues that there is no permissive inference of intent to distribute based on packaging, the instruction was inadequate to address the jury's question, and the jury instruction was incomplete, thereby confusing the jury and prejudicing Petitioner.

As an initial matter, this issue is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court. It is well-settled that an issue that has not been presented to or passed upon by the trial judge will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised but *not ruled upon*, it is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996) (emphasis added). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed; otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727. The same standard applies in post-conviction relief actions—for an issue to be properly before an appellate court on post-conviction relief review, it must have been presented to and ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court. Winkler v. State, 418 S.C. 643, 662, 795 S.E.2d 686, 697 (2016), reh'g denied (Feb. 9, 2017) (citing Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (stating

issue preservation rules are "meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, laws, and arguments" (quoting I'On, L.L.C. v. Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000)); In re Michael H., 360 S.C. 540, 546, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732 (2004) ("In order to preserve an issue for appeal, it must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. In other words, the trial court must be given an opportunity to resolve the issue before it is presented to the appellate court." (citing Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998))).

In the present case, Petitioner failed to raise this issue in his application for post-conviction relief, did not raise it at the evidentiary hearing, and it was likewise never *ruled upon* by the post-conviction relief court.<sup>1</sup> In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court made no findings of fact or conclusions of law as to the merits of the claim that Petitioner now raises that trial counsel failed to object to the supplemental instruction. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for this Court's review. Mangal v. State, 421 S.C. 85, 805 S.E.2d 568 (2017) (Refusing to excuse Mangal from his procedural defaults and finding the issue unpreserved where the issue was not raised in the pleadings, Mangal did not indicate to the court he intended to raise the issue at the outset of the hearing or during the hearing, and did not raise the issue with specificity at the close of the hearing). In Petitioner's case, this issue was not raised in the pleadings, at the outset or during the hearing, or at the close of the hearing with any specificity before the post-conviction relief court.

Moreover, Petitioner did not file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to alter or amend the order, arguing that the court should have addressed the unraised issue. When a party fails to file a Rule

---

<sup>1</sup> In his application, Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request that the trial court recharge the burden of proof with the supplemental instruction. (App'x pp. 154-55). Petitioner testified to the same at the evidentiary hearing, but did not raise the issue that trial counsel failed to object to the supplemental instruction. (App'x pp. 11, 26-27).

59(e), SCRCPP, motion asking the post-conviction relief court "to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law," the issue on appeal is not preserved for review. Burgess v. State, 402 S.C. 92, 738 S.E.2d 264 (2013).

"At minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge." Herron, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642. "Either party must timely file a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion to preserve for review any issues not ruled upon by the court in its order." Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 364-65, 527 S.E.2d 742, 747 (2000) (citing Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992) (holding an issue must be raised to and ruled on by the post-conviction relief court in order to be preserved for review); Plyer v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 424 S.E.2d 477 (1992) (same)). As this issue was never raised to or ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court and Petitioner failed to file a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion, requesting such a ruling, the issue is not preserved for this Court's review.

Notwithstanding the lack of preservation, Petitioner failed to establish that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the supplemental instruction, as it was a correct statement of the law when considered as a whole, was appropriately responsive to the jury's questions, and did not comment on the facts or shift the burden.

"In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct. App. 2003). "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." Adkins, 388 S.C. at 318, 577 S.E.2d at 464. "A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 478, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). See State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 350 S.E.2d 180 (1986) (Finding that the trial court's supplemental

instruction was responsive to the jury's questions and a correct statement of the law, and therefore, there was no error)); Cf. State v. Bowers, 436 S.C. 640, 875 S.E.2d 608 (2022) (Reversing petitioners conviction where the trial court gave an erroneous initial instruction and supplemental instruction that mutual combat was a defense, but rather, mutual combat negates defense)

Petitioners' claims are similar to the arguments raised in Lowry v. State, where the petitioner asserted that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the supplemental instruction on felony murder, as it created a mandatory presumption and shifted the burden. 376 S.C. 499, 657 S.E.2d 760 (2008). In Lowry, the Supreme Court stated that "[t]he relevant inquiry for the Court in this matter is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution." 376 S.C. at 505, 657 S.E.2d at 763. The Lowry Court examined the entire charge and held that the supplemental charge shifted the burden as it contained no permissive language that would prompt the jury to believe they *may* infer malice from Lowry's participation, but rather, the trial court stated the jury *must* find Lowry guilty if they found the killing occurred during the course of the robbery. Id. at 506.

Further, the Lowry Court determined that when viewing the supplemental charge in conjunction with the proper initial charge, that the proper initial charge did not rectify the constitutional error in the supplemental instruction, as it contradicted the initial charge. Id. at 506-507. See United States v. Cantu, 185 F.3d 298 (5th Cir. 1999) (When evaluating a supplemental instruction given in response to a jury question, a reviewing court "seeks to determine whether the court's answer was reasonably responsive to the jury's questions and whether the original and supplemental instructions as a whole allowed the jury to understand the issue presented to it.") (internal quotations omitted).

In Petitioner's case, the trial court gave the following initial charge concerning intent to

distribute:

In determining whether the Defendant had the intent to distribute the cocaine, you may consider the circumstances surrounding the Defendant's alleged possession. You may consider the amount of the substance alleged to have been possessed, the manner in which it was allegedly possessed, the place where it was allegedly possessed, and other factors which you consider to be important.

You must find that a Defendant did not intend to have the cocaine solely for his own use. Possession of more than one gram of cocaine creates an inference that the Defendant possessed the cocaine with intent to distribute it.

This inference does not relieve the State from proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant had the intent to distribute.

It is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with the other evidence in the case and be given the weight you decide it should have.

(App'x p. 124). This is a correct statement of the law (discussed *infra*). See State v. Robinson, 344 S.C. 220, 543 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App. 2001) ("S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B) (Supp. 1999) creates a permissive inference that possession of more than one gram of crack cocaine constitutes possession with intent to distribute.").

Following the initial instruction, the trial court received the following questions from the jury and responded accordingly:

We have questions from the jury. All right, everybody have a seat. We have two questions from the jury. The first question is intent -- is intent to distribute based on quantity or the way it is packaged, and I'm going to answer that there may be a permissive inference of intent to distribute if the cocaine weighs over one gram.

They also have another question that says, or any other factors, and I'm going to answer, also the jury may draw a permissive inference of intent to distribute also based on packaging and other factors.

(App'x p. 130).

Petitioner avers that the trial court's supplemental instruction failed to reiterate that the permissive inference need not be accepted and that the burden of proof was on the State to prove intent. However, the jury's question was limited to specific questions concerning the factors they

could consider in determining intent and did not indicate any confusion concerning the burden of proof or the definition of intent. Petitioner cites McKnight; however, McKnight is distinguishable from this case. In McKnight, the jury specifically asked the trial court, "Can we have a definition of criminal intent? If we do have to confirm criminal intent?" McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 47, 661 S.E.2d 354, 361 (2008). In Petitioner's case, the jury did not express concern about the definition of intent; instead, they focused on the factors they could consider to determine intent. The trial court's instruction was responsive, indicating that they could take into account the amount, packaging, and other factors, and echoed the trial court's initial instruction.

Additionally, Petitioner's claim that the supplemental instruction shifted the burden is not supported. Petitioner essentially argues that trial counsel should have requested that the trial court recharge the full initial charge, and that, because the jury was not fully recharged, this shifted the burden. However, the language of the trial court's supplemental instruction was explicitly permissive and at no point used language that would have created a mandatory presumption indicating that the jury must infer intent from the amount of cocaine or the packaging. Based on this, trial counsel had no reason to object to the supplemental instruction, as it was a correct statement of law, and the mere fact that the jury was not recharged on matters they clearly had no questions about does not, in itself, shift the burden of proof to Petitioner.

This is especially true when considering the initial jury instruction and supplemental jury instruction as a whole, as the trial court had already instructed the jury that they may consider various factors to prove intent, including packaging, that the State bore the burden to prove intent regardless of any inference created by the amount possessed and that the jury need not accept this inference, but it is merely an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration. State v. Cooper, 279 S.C. 301, 306 S.E.2d 598 (1983) (Holding that the expressions "rebuttable" and "reasonable

explanation" left jury susceptible to improper interpretation that defendant had to rebut or explain his possession, and that possession should be characterized merely as an evidentiary fact). Importantly, the supplemental instruction did not contradict the initial instruction, and therefore, the jury was likely not confused.

Further, Petitioner argues that there is no such thing as a permissive inference arising from packaging, and the trial court's instruction shifted the burden and was an unconstitutional comment on the facts. Permissive inferences leave the trier of fact free to accept or reject the inference, and do not shift the burden of proof, but "it affects the application of the 'beyond a reasonable doubt' standard only if, under the facts of the case, there is no rational way the trier could make the connection permitted by the inference." Cnty. Ct. of Ulster Cnty., N. Y. v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 157 (1979). A presumption must not shift the burden of proof to the person on trial. State v. Lewellyn, 281 S.C. 199, 314 S.E.2d 326 (1984) (Finding that the malice charge shifted the burden where it stated, "until the contrary be proved," and instructed that charges on implied malice not use the expression "rebuttable," "reasonable explanation," or "unless the contrary be proved."); See Francis v. Franklin, 471 U.S. 307 (1985) (holding modified by Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370 (1990) (A permissive inference violates the Due Process Clause only if the suggested conclusion is not one that reason and common sense justify in light of the proven facts before the jury)).

In Allen, the Supreme Court noted that "[i]nferences and presumptions are a staple of our adversary system of factfinding. It is often necessary for the trier of fact to determine the existence of an element of the crime—that is, an "ultimate" or "elemental" fact—from the existence of one or more "evidentiary" or "basic" facts." Allen, 442 U.S. at 156. Respondent agrees with Petitioner that there is no statutory presumption based on packaging in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B);

however, that does not preclude the trial court from instructing the jury that they *may* infer intent from factors other than the amount. For example, there is no statutory presumption for Receiving, Possessing, Concealing, Selling, or Disposing of Stolen Vehicle (S.C. Code Ann. § 16-21-80), yet it was proper at the time of Petitioner's trial to instruct juries that they could infer guilt where a defendant possesses the recently stolen property. See State v. Williams, 350 S.C. 172, 175, 564 S.E.2d 688, 690 n.6 (Ct. App. 2002); see also State v. Roof, 196 S.C. 204, 12 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1941).

Regardless, an erroneous charge does not automatically require reversal, and the relevant question in establishing prejudice is whether the charge affected the jury's deliberations and contributed to the verdict. State v. Bowers, 436 S.C. 640, 875 S.E.2d 608 (2022). To determine whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict, it is appropriate to determine how a reasonable juror would have understood the initial instruction and the trial court's answer to their question. Bowers, 436 S.C. 640, 875 S.E.2d 608. In Petitioner's case, the initial instruction was a correct statement of law, coupled with the supplemental instruction, a reasonable juror would have understood that they could infer intent to distribute based on the amount, manner of packaging, and other factors; not that they were obligated to infer intent based on any one of these factors.

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